SC#93677-3

No. 46802-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTOPHER GUEST and SUZANNE GUEST,

Petitioners,

v.

DAVID LANGE and KAREN LANGE,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Sidney Tribe, WSBA #33160 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661 Attorneys for Petitioners Guest

A. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTIES

The petitioners Guest ask this Court to review the Court of Appeals decision set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its opinion in this case on June 14, 2016. That opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-21. That

court denied the Guests' motion for reconsideration in an order entered on

August 31, 2016. A copy of that order is in the Appendix at page A-22.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where there are factual issues concerning the legal authority of a neighbor to build a deck on an alleged easement, including a number of documents prohibiting it and a contrary city ruling, did the trial court err in granting summary judgment on the neighbors' entitlement to build the deck on the alleged easement, and in subsequently instructing the jury that the court had ruled as a matter of law that the neighbors had the right to construct and maintain the deck?

2. Did the trial court err in failing to give an instruction defining the neighbors' duty of good faith and fair dealing in connection with the construction of the deck, particularly in light of juror questions as to that definition, left unanswered by the trial court?

3. Did the trial court err in construing an unambiguous release, defense, and indemnification provision in a 1987 recorded document, precluding claims by the property owners whose property rights were invaded by neighbors who built a deck that encroached upon those rights, despite those neighbors' promise not to do so?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals' recitation of the facts is largely correct, but too brief to give this Court a real sense of the issues here.

The Guests and the Langes are adjoining property owners who share a single border along the north-south portion of Lot 4 and Lot 5 in the Spinnaker Ridge Development in Gig Harbor. CP 340. There are two alleged easements at issue in this case. One is an approximately 5' wide by 21' long strip that encroaches onto the Guests' Lot 5 property. The Langes contend that this is permitted by a document purportedly executed by Nu-Dawn Homes, Inc. and recorded in Pierce County in 1987. CP 1093. *See* Appendix. The second alleged easement involves an area approximately 3' long by 5' wide that also extends onto the Guests' Lot 5 property, which is not covered by that 1987 document. RP (4/19/13):12-13.

In September 2010, the Langes notified the Guests that they planned to tear down and rebuild their house's deck the next spring. CP 341. The Langes also disclosed that their existing deck encroached on the Guests' property by approximately 5' wide down the length of Lot 5, but that the Guests should not worry because the new deck would not encroach. At or around the same time, the Guests disclosed to the Langes their intent to build a wrap-around deck on the back, south, and west sides of Lot 5, which would include the portion of Lot 5 occupied by the Langes' deck. *Id.* The parties had further discussions about the decks and the Guests showed the Langes the 1987 document and reminded the Langes that the 1987 document "required shared and/or mutual use of any deck that any Lot 4 owner constructed on any portion of Lot 5..." and that there was an indemnity provision in the document that required that the Langes indemnify the Guests. CP 341-42; RP (7/14/14):124-25.

The Guests objected to the Langes building a deck on Lot 5, particularly the southwest side and corner of Lot 5. CP 342. The Langes stated that they did not want to encroach on Lot 5, agreed to back the new deck away from the Guests' master bedroom, and affirmed that the deck they built would not encroach upon the Guests' property. CP 342, 580.

Moreover, the Guests learned that a City of Gig Harbor ("City") engineer had informed the Langes that their former deck on Lot 5 had been in the wrong place and that the easement purportedly noted in the 1987 document was also in the wrong place where no Lot 4 structure could be on any part of Lot 5 according to the original design of the Spinnaker Ridge Development. Ex. 20. Thus, it would have been improper for the Langes to build the new deck on its original footprint, or any previous footprint on any part of Lot 5.

In the spring of 2011, the Langes then provided the Guests with deck plans that included a graph paper hand drawing created by David

Lange that outlined the previous alleged easement area and the 3' by 5' encroachment with the words "Vacated Easement" written inside that area. CP 342-43, 347-48. They provided deck plans showing the entire removal of the Lange deck from Lot 5 and the hand drawing "graphically confirmed the removal of the 3' x 5' encroachment [and was] consistent with the Langes' confirmation to [the Guests] in January 2011 that the [Langes] would not encroach on [Lot 5] and ... did not want to build a continuous Lot 4 and Lot 5 deck." CP 343, 581. The Guests told the Langes that they approved of the proposed plans. CP 343.

The Langes submitted a letter to the Spinnaker Ridge Community Association ("SRCA") Architectural Control Committee ("ACC") requesting approval of this reduced deck, noting that the City had informed the Langes that their prior deck impermissibly encroached on Lot 5 and that they were vacating the easement on Lot 5. CP 395, 397, 399, 401. The letter referenced and attached schematics showing complete removal of the Lange deck from Lot 5. *Id.* The same day, the Langes notified the Guests of their submission to the ACC and asked for the Guests' permission to build their new deck up to the southwest corner of the Guests' house. CP 344, 354. The Guests declined to consent, but the ACC approved the Langes' deck plans; the Langes emailed the Guests stating: "David just returned from the Architectural Committee meeting and they have approved the deck as we outlined it for you – we <u>will not</u> build to the end of your house on the 5' alley as we had requested in our email." CP 356. However, while the Guests were out of town, with knowledge that they were exceeding the legal boundaries of Lot 4, the Langes built their new deck on Lot 5 contrary to their express agreement with the Guests. CP 345. The Langes did not seek permission from the ACC or the Guests before acting on the new revised deck plans, constructing a deck on the footprint of the former deck, instead, simply notifying the ACC Chair by letter. Construction of the deck began while the Guests were out of town. CP 410.

After the Guests filed suit, the trial court granted summary judgment to the Langes, ruling that they could construct their deck on the footprint of their former deck, notwithstanding its encroachment on Lot 5. The trial court later instructed the jury to this effect in Instruction Number 17,¹ and indicated that this ruling was the law of the case as to whether legitimate easements actually existed. RP (7/8/14):30-31.²

¹ The trial court precluded questions to the Langes at trial about the Langes' agreement not to build their deck on the Guests' property. RP (7/9/14):84.

² The Guests submitted evidence at trial that Nu-Dawn Homes Limited Partnership (not Nu-Dawn Homes, Inc.) was the developer and that Nu Dawn Homes Limited Partnership (not Nu-Dawn Homes Inc.) was also a joint fee simple titled owner of the SRD real property including all the SRD Lots along with Seafirst Mortgage Corporation. Ex. 20; RP (7/10/14):39-40; RP (7/14/14):165-66. The Guests also argued at trial that the SRCA Articles of Incorporation did not permit any Lot 4 casement on any

The trial court also dismissed the Guests' indemnity claim arising out of section D of the 1987 document, concluding that it did not apply because the Guests' alleged harm arose from the Guests' choice to sue the Langes, not from the use of the putative easement; the court concluded that a contract for indemnity only protects the promisee against claims arising from liability only to a third party. CP 375-76. The Guests moved for reconsideration and the trial court denied that motion. CP 1437-38.

The trial court granted the Langes' motion for summary judgment as to all but claims of unclean hands, duty of good faith and fair dealing, trespass, and breach of contract to vacate the easement and the 3' x 5' encroachment. CP 940-41.

At trial on those claims, the trial court gave Instruction 17, telling the jury that "[t]he court has determined as a matter of law that defendants had the right to rebuild in and occupy the area described in the Patio or Deck Easement recorded under Pierce County Auditor Document Number 87094290509." CP 4755.

The trial court initially agreed to give Plaintiffs' Proposed Instruction 7, concerning the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing, stating that the instruction "fairly defines the duty of good faith and fair

part of Lot 5, and that the SRCA recorded plat and its certified survey did not evidence any Lot 4 deck easement on any part of Lot 5. Exs. 20, 23; RP (7/14/14):10.

dealing." RP (7/15/14):103-04. However, when it actually instructed the jury, the trial court omitted this instruction. *Id.* at 122; CP 4736-60. The jury picked up on the omission, asking the trial court during its deliberations to define "covenant of good faith and fair dealing." CP 4761. The trial court's only response was to state that "words are to be given their ordinary meaning." *Id.*

The jury found that the Langes did not breach a contract with the Guests to refrain from building their deck in an area where it had previously existed, and did not breach their covenant of good faith and fair dealing with the Guests. In addition, the jury found that the deck as presently constructed did not trespass on the Guests' Lot 5 property. CP 4763-64. The Court of Appeals, Division II, affirmed the judgment on the jury's verdict. Appendix at pages A-1 through A-21.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED³

This Court has recognized the importance of addressing property rights affected by CC&Rs in the subdivision setting, even granting direct review to address them. *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n*, 180 Wn.2d 241, 327 P.3d 614 (2014). This case presents issues pertaining to easements and indemnity in that setting, meriting review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

³ This Court is fully familiar with the criteria for review in RAP 13.4(b), and the Guests will not repeat them here.

The Court of Appeals here erroneously affirmed the trial court's decision to permit the Langes to have a deck that not only encroached on the Guests' property, but that abutted the Guests' house and extended beyond the Guests' master bedroom window. The Langes promised the Guests in 2010 and in 2011 that when the Langes tore down their deck that the Langes' new deck would stay within the bounds of the Langes' adjacent Lot 4 property or would only be constructed on Lot 5 with the Guests' advance permission and consent. Despite these promises, the Langes built a new deck while the Guests were out of town that encroached on the Guests' property and abutted their home. The Langes did so without a City permit and with full knowledge that the deck improperly encroached on Lot 5.

This Court should grant review because the Guests were denied a fair trial by the trial court's determinations as a matter of law that the Langes' easement was legitimate, allowing them to encroach on the Guests' property, and the trial court's misreading of the indemnification agreement here. On the oral agreement of the parties as to a reduced deck, the trial court failed to instruct the jury on a definition of good faith and fair dealing.

(1) <u>The Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment to</u> the Langes as to the Validity of the 1987 Recorded <u>Document</u> The trial court erred in granting summary judgment to the Langes to rebuild their deck so as to encroach on the Guests' property. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming that determination. Fact issues existed as to whether the Langes were entitled to rebuild that deck in the fashion that they did.

Attention to the formalities of such matters as the identity of the grantor or whether a homeowners association existed to address CC&R changes is important under Washington law. *E.g.*, *Halme v. Walsh*, 192 Wn. App. 893, 370 P.3d 42 (2016) (homeowners association was not established).

First, as noted *supra* at n.2, there was a fact issue as to the identity of the grantor. The trial court erred in refusing to consider as untimely the Guests' argument that, as a defense to the Langes' quiet title claim, the 1987 document is invalid as an easement because the alleged grantor did not own Lot 5 and, therefore, could not grant any easement to Lot 4 or to any other person or entity.

The 1987 document, on which the Langes base their quiet title action as to the 21' by 5' strip, was invalid. CP 870-86. First, the purported easement was granted by Nu-Dawn Homes, Inc., yet at that time Nu-Dawn Homes Limited Partnership, a separate legal entity, owned Lot 5. Second, the purported grantor's signature on the 1987 document was not the grantor's signature. CP 880. The 1987 document was purportedly signed by Nu-Dawn Homes, Inc. with no identification or acknowledgment of the authority or capacity for that person to sign or bind Nu-Dawn Homes, Inc. CP 431. Nu Dawn Homes Limited Partnership sold Lot 4 on May 6, 1987 to the Urbauers, the Langes' predecessors. CP 925. The declaration also included testimony arguing that Nu-Dawn Homes Limited Partnership also owned Lot 5 at the relevant times. CP 880. At trial, the Guests also elicited testimony demonstrating that Nu-Dawn Homes Limited Partnership was the owner of Lot 5 at the time the 1987 recorded document was executed. Ex. 20: RP (7/10/14):39-40; RP (7/14/14):165-69. Despite the proof offered by the Guests, the trial court refused to revisit the issue, finding that the May 6, 2013 partial summary judgment order was the "law of the case." RP (7/8/14):28-31; RP (7/7/14): 114-16; RP (7/10/14):57; RP (7/15/14):98-99.

Here, the Guests submitted sufficient evidence to raise a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Nu Dawn Homes, Inc. was in fact the owner of Lot 5 and could have been the grantor of an easement as to that parcel. If Nu Dawn Homes, Inc. did not own Lot 5, it had no right to attempt to grant an easement to Lot 4, and the 1987 document would be invalid. Second, there was a fact issue as to whether the new deck violated the SCRA CC&Rs. The Langes breached the 1986 CC&Rs as to 3' by 5' overhang because (1) the original Lot 4 deck was not built by the developer and (2) the Langes rebuilt their deck with knowledge that encroachment exceeded the 1987 recorded document. CP 571-72; RP $(4/19/03):61-62.^{4}$

Finally, and most critically, because the Langes were on notice that their original deck exceeded the boundaries outlined in the 1987 document, recorded in Pierce County, the Langes willfully rebuilt their deck with knowledge of the encroachment, removing them from the potential protection offered by the August 1986 CC&Rs.⁵ The Langes'

⁵ The Guests do not concede that the 1986 CC&Rs were valid and enforceable.

⁴ The August 1986 CC&Rs granted an easement for minor and unintended deck and other minor and unintended eneroachments constructed by developer:

There shall be valid easements for the maintenance of said encroachments so long as they shall exist...provided, however, that in no event shall a valid easement for encroachment be created in favor of an Owner or Owners if said encroachment occurred due to the willful act or acts with full knowledge of said Owner or Owners.

CP 424. The August 1986 CC&Rs also stated that "the rights and obligations of Owners shall not be altered in any way by said encroachment." CP 424.

The Guests introduced evidence raising a question of fact as to whether the Lot 4 deck was constructed by the developer and the Langes' lack of good faith in rebuilding their deck. David Lange testified that he believed the Lot 4 deck had been built in approximately 1990. CP 697. In a March 12, 2011 letter to the ACC, the Langes also admitted that "the deck [was] built by the original owners." CP 395. If the Lot 4 deck was not built by the developer, the Langes would not be entitled to rely on the August 1986 CC&Rs to grant them any minor unintended "eneroachment" easement on Lot 5 or over the 3' by 5' eneroachment onto Lot 5.

March 12, 2011 memorandum to the ACC stated that "[t]o ensure that our deck is constructed within legally surveyed limits[,] we contacted the city engineers to help us outline our lot boundaries and the deck easement that was laid out by the developers, Nu-Dawn Homes.... We found that the deck, built by the original owners, was not constructed within our easement limits." CP 395. Despite the notice from the City that the proposed deck exceeded the boundary limits of the 1987 document, the Langes rebuilt their encroaching deck anyway. If the Langes rebuilt their deck with full knowledge of the encroachment, they were not entitled to an easement under any allegedly valid CC&Rs.

Instruction 17, which incorporated the trial court's ruling as a matter of law that the Langes had a right to use the area referred to in the 1987 document, erroneously stated that the 1987 document created a valid easement. This compounded the error of the trial court's summary judgment ruling, prejudicing the Guests. With Instruction 17 in place, the Langes argued during closing that the jury could disregard the Guests' evidence. RP (7/16/14):11.

The Court of Appeals erred in approving of the trial court's decision to instruct the jury that the issue of easement validity was decided as a matter of law when there were fact questions attendant upon such a decision. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(2) <u>The Court of Appeals Misapplied the Law of</u> <u>Indemnification Agreements in Upholding the Trial Court's</u> Summary Judgment on Section D of the 1987 Document

The trial court concluded as a matter of law that Section D, the broad indemnification provision in the 1987 document that purportedly gave the Langes an easement over the Guest property, did not apply.⁶ In doing so, the trial court and Court of Appeals misread the provision that required the Langes to indemnify the Guests for any claims actions "arising from the utilization of said easement" by the Langes. CP 431.

Washington courts have long held that indemnity contracts should be given a reasonable construction and should not be "so narrowly or technically interpreted as to frustrate their obvious design." *Tri-M Erectors, Inc. v. Donald M. Drake Co.*, 27 Wn. App. 529, 532, 618 P.2d 1341 (1980) (quoting *Union Pacific R. R. v. Ross Transfer Co.*, 64 Wn.2d 486, 488, 392 P.2d 450 (1964)), *review denied*, 95 Wn.2d 1002 (1981). Thus, the intent of the parties in negotiating such an indemnification must be carried out by the courts. *Scott Galvanizing Inc. v. Nw. EnviroServices, Inc.*, 120 Wn.2d 573, 580, 844 P.2d 428 (1993). Such provisions are designed to allocate risk of loss or damage arising out of a contract.

⁶ The trial court dismissed the Guests' indemnity claim because Section D "is in case someone gets hurt and there's a lawsuit the Langes have to pay the Guests for. It's not a bar to this claim. This is a claim over what the extent of the easement is." RP (4/19/13):35.

Nunez v. American Bldg. Maintenance Co. West, 144 Wn. App. 345, 351, 190 P.3d 56, *review denied*, 165 Wn.2d 1008 (2008). Any ambiguities in such agreements are construed against their drafter. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals was oblivious to the plain purpose of section D here was for parties like the Guests, adversely affected by claims of an easement over their property, to avoid legal expense in resisting such an encroachment upon their property. To read Section D as narrowly as the Court of Appeals did, eviscerates the purpose of such an indemnity provision.

The Court of Appeals seemingly adopted the argument of the Langes that *City of Tacoma v. City of Bonney Lake*, 173 Wn.2d 584, 269 P.3d 1017 (2012) precludes the Guests from recovering their defense costs or damages from the Langes under section D. Op. at 13-14.

But there is authority in Washington, not overruled or even addressed by *City of Tacoma*, that a court must enforce a duty to indemnify regardless of whether the indemnified party prevails when the agreement's plain language does not require the indemnified party to prevail in order for the agreement to be operative. *Newport Yacht Basin Ass 'n of Condo. Owners v. Supreme Nw., Inc.*, 168 Wn. App. 86, 100, 101, 285 P.3d 70 (2012), *review denied*, 175 Wn.2d 1015 (2012). The Court of Appeals did not address this authority anywhere in its opinion. Op. at 13-14.

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