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

as it now exists against any claim of the plaintiffs. "42 

C. The Court of Appeals' Opinion 

It is important to note that when the Guests appealed the trial court's 

rulings they did not appeal from the trial court's summary judgment ruling 

38 RP (July 15, 2014) at p. 121, lines 18-25, p. 122, lines 1-2. 
39 RP (July 15, 2014) at p. 122, lines 1-12. 
4° CP 4761; RP (July 16, 2014) at p. 42, lines 14-17. 
41 CP 4 764. In finding no trespass, the jury implicitly found that Mr. Lange did not rebuild 

the deck intending to encroach in that small space beyond the Patio or Deck Easement. 
42 CP at 4855-56. 

-9-



that the Patio or Deck Easement created an easement, as they now argue in 

their Petition for Discretionary Review. Guest v. Lange, 2016 WL 

3264419, at *5 n.6, *9-10. Instead, the Guests appealed the trial court's 

decision to not consider their untimely filed Guest declaration, the 

declaration filed after the orders on summary judgment had been entered. 

!d. at *5, 7. (These are significant facts, well-noted by the Court of Appeals, 

but not addressed in the Guests' Petition for Review.) While the Court of 

Appeals mistakenly believed the Guest declaration had been filed the 

morning of the presentation hearing, (rather than after the hearing), it 

nonetheless properly held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion 

when it declined to consider the untimely Guest declaration. First, 

following Barrett v. Friese, 119 W n. App. 823, 851, 82 P .3d 1179 (2003 ), 

the Court of Appeals held that because the Guests failed to timely move for 

reconsideration under CR 59, they were precluded from relitigating the facts 

and issues previously decided on summary judgment. !d. at *8. Second, 

citing RAP 9 .12, the Court of Appeals held that no further consideration 

was authorized because the Guest declaration was not called to the trial 

court's attention in connection with the motions for summary judgment and 

it was not designated in the orders entered on summary judgment. ld.43 

43 The only declaration authored by Ms. Guest designated in the Order on Summary 
Judgment is Ms. Guest's declaration dated April 17, 2014, filed two days before oral 
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With respect to the instruction that the Patio or Deck Easement 

created an easement, the instruction was based on the earlier summary 

judgment ruling from which the Guests did not appeal.44 !d. at *9. Given 

the absence of an appeal from the ruling on summary judgment, the Court 

of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision to give the jury instruction. 

!d. at * 10. The Court of Appeals also properly affirmed the trial court's 

dismissal of the Guests' indemnity claim holding that the only reasonable 

interpretation of the indemnity provision is that it applied to suits related to 

injury or where a plaintiff might sue the Guests because of injury caused by 

or on the Langes' deck. !d. at *6-7. Finally, the Court of Appeals held that 

the Guests waived any appeal from the trial court's inadvertent failure to 

give the good faith and fair dealing instruction because they failed to object 

at trial despite having three opportunities to do so. !d. at * 10. 

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Unpublished Court Of Appeals Decision Raises No 
Issues Of Substantial Public Interest To Warrant Supreme 
Court Review. 

The Guests rely on RAP 13.4(b )( 4) in an effort to invoke this Court's 

review, but that requires the petition to raise an issue of "substantial public 

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." The Guests fail 

argument on the motions for summary judgment. CP 728-796. That declaration did not 
address the validity of the Patio or Deck Easement. 

44 RP (July 15, 20 14) at p. 98, lines 15-17. 
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to meet this standard. First, they assert without any reasoned analysis that 

this case "presents issues pertaining to easements and indemnity . 

meriting [Supreme Court] review."45 This is nothing more than an 

unsupported, bare-bones assertion and is woefully insufficient to merit 

review. Second, the Guests ignore the fact that they waived the right to 

appeal the summary judgment ruling that the Patio or Deck Easement 

created a valid easement because they did not raise it in the Court of 

Appeals. Moreover, the evidence on which the Guests rely was never 

timely brought to the attention of the trial court. Third, the Guests offer no 

real argument to establish that the trial court's ruling on summary judgment 

on an easement that applies to one development involves substantial public 

interest meriting this Court's review. Fourth, this is an unpublished 

decision, so the Court of Appeals clearly determined that none of the issues 

were important or of general public interest. RAP 12.3(d). In short, none 

of the issues raised in the Petition have any ramifications beyond the parties 

to this dispute or the particular facts of this case. The Petition for 

Discretionary Review should be denied. 

1. Review Should Be Denied Because The Guests Waived 
Their Right To Appeal The Trial Court's Ruling That 
The Easement Was Valid. 

45 Petition for Review at p. 7. 
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As recognized by the Court of Appeals in this case, the Guests did 

not appeal the trial court's ruling on summary judgment that the Patio or 

Deck Easement was valid. Nor did they argue on appeal that the evidence 

submitted on summary judgment raised a genuine issue of fact as to the 

validity of the easement, as they now attempt to do for the first time in their 

Petition for Discretionary Review. Instead, on appeal they argued that the 

trial court erred in not considering the additional evidence they belatedly 

presented long after the trial court ruled on summary judgment.46 Having 

failed to appeal from the trial court's ruling, the Guests have waived their 

right to do so now. RAP 2.5(a); see also, Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. 

Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992); Am. Legion Post No. 32 

v. City of Walla Walla, 116 Wn.2d 1, 7, 802 P.2d 784 (1991). Similarly, 

the Court of Appeals properly held that the Guests waived their claim that 

the trial court erred in instructing the jury that the Easement was valid 

because the Guests failed to appeal the trial court's ruling on summary 

judgment that the Easement was valid. (Instruction No. 17). Guest v. Lange, 

2016 WL 3264419, at *9-10. The law of appellate waiver is well settled in 

46 Guests' Appellate Brief at pps.24-27; Guest v. Lange, 2016 WL 3264419, at *5 n.6, 5-
7, 9-10 (explaining that the Guests "argue the trial court erred by granting summary 
judgment on the validity of the Easement because it did not consider new evidence 
included in their CR 56( f) declarations," and "[t]he Guests do not argue that the trial court 
improperly granted summary judgment based on the information it had at the time[;] 
[r]ather, they argue that with the new information contained in the declarations, summary 
judgment should not have been granted"). 
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Washington and given the undisputed waiver in this case, there is no issue 

of "substantial public interest" meriting this Court's review. 

Finally, contrary to their assertion, the Guests did not present any 

evidence at trial that the Patio or Deck Easement was invalid. First, the 

validity of the Easement was not an issue before the jury, instead, as the 

trial court repeatedly explained to the parties, their focus and their proof was 

to be directed to the 3' x 5' minor encroachment.47 Second, the testimony 

the Guests rely on in their Petition-Ms. Lange's testimony wherein she 

was asked to read the names of two entities identified on the Spinnaker 

Ridge final plat as owners of the property and her statement that she did not 

see an easement outlined on Lot 4 or 5 on the final plat-does not support 

their assertion that the Easement was invalid. The Guests did not present 

any expert testimony or citation to legal authority to establish the legal 

significance of the final plat and information contained therein or to explain 

the effect of later created easements on a final plat. Thus, there was no 

competent evidence that raised an issue of fact. 

2. Review Should Be Denied Because The Trial Court 
Properly Exercised Its Discretion In Not Considering 
The Late Filed Guest Declaration. 

A trial court has the discretion to accept or reject untimely filed 

47 RP (July 9, 2014) at p. 114, lines 6-25; p. 115, lines 1-25; p. 116, line 1. 
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affidavits. Brown v. Peoples Mortg. Co., 48 Wn. App. 554, 559, 739 P.2d 

1188 (1987), citing In re Recall of Reed, 156 Wn.2d 53, 61, 124 P.3d 279 

(2005). And, on review of motions for summary judgment, an appellate 

court may not consider evidence that was not brought to the trial court's 

attention and is not designated in the orders on summary judgment. RAP 

9.12; see also, Green v. Normandy Park, 137 Wn. App. 665, 677-80, 151 

P.3d 1038 (2007) (refusing to consider two declarations designated by the 

appellant in the clerk's papers because the declarations had not been called 

to the trial court's attention on summary judgment and they were not listed 

in the summary judgment order). Here, the Court of Appeals properly 

affirmed the trial court's refusal to consider the Guest declaration (which 

the Guests argue created a question of fact as to the validity of the 

Easement), because the declaration was not timely filed, was not brought to 

the trial court's attention in connection with the motions for summary 

judgment, and was not designated in the orders on summary judgment. 

Guest v. Lange, 2016 WL 3264419, at *8. 

The Guests' argument was also properly rejected because when "a 

party fails to timely move for reconsideration, the party is 'not entitled to 

relitigate the facts and issues decided on summary judgment." !d. quoting 

Barrett v. Friese, 119 Wn. App. at 851 (holding that where plaintiff failed 

to timely move for reconsideration of a summary judgment order, trial court 
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properly prohibited plaintiff from later providing additional evidence and 

argument on the issues previously decided by that order). It is undisputed 

that the Guests failed to file a motion for reconsideration of the trial court's 

ruling on summary judgment, therefore, the Court of Appeals properly 

affirmed the trial court's refusal to allow the Guests to later relitigate the 

validity of the Easement. 48 Guest v. Lange, 20 16 WL 3264419, at * 8-9. 

B. The Petition Fails To Establish The Court of Appeals 
Decision Is In Conflict With Any Decision Of The Supreme 
Court Or Another Court of Appeals Decision. 

1. Review Should Be Denied Because The Court of Appeals 
Properly Followed Washington Law In Affirming The 
Dismissal Of The Indemnity Claim. 

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's dismissal 

of the indemnity claim, holding that "[a] plain reading of [the indemnity 

provision] shows that it is to bind the indemnitor with respect to the claims 

asserted against the indemnitee by third parties." Guest v. Lange, 2016 WL 

3264419, at *7. An indemnity provision must be read as the average person 

48 Even if the Guests had timely filed a motion for reconsideration when filing the Guest 
declaration, the declaration was insufficient under CR 56( e) to create a genuine issue of 
material fact. Under CR 56( e), a declaration must be made on personal knowledge, set 
forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and affirmatively show that the 
declarant is competent to testify to the matters stated in the declaration. Grimwood v. 
Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc., 110 Wn. 2d 355, 359, 753 P.2d 517 (1988). Unsupported 
conclusory statements and legal opinions are not to be considered. Orion Corp. v. State, 
103 Wn.2d 441, 461-62, 693 P.2d 1369 (1985). Ms. Guests' declaration merely states 
unsupported conclusory statements and legal opinions; it does not establish that Ms. 
Guest has personal knowledge as to any of the allegations or conclusions, or that she is 
competent or qualified to testify as to forged signatures or the ownership of the property 
at the time the Easement was executed. 
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would read it; it should be given a "practical and reasonable rather than a 

literal interpretation," and not a ''strained or forced construction" leading to 

absurd results. Eurick v. Pemco, 108 Wn.2d 338, 341, 738 P.2d 251, 252 

(1987). Here, the Guests proposed interpretation-that the indemnification 

provision requires the Langes to indemnity the Guests for any and all claims 

related in any way to the easement-produces the absurd result of 

precluding the Langes from asserting their lawful rights under the Patio or 

Deck Easement and would require the Langes to bear all costs of litigation 

when there is any dispute over the parties rights vis-a-vie the easement. 

The Court relied on City of Tacoma v. City of Bonney Lake, 173 

Wn.2d 584, 269 P.3d 1017 (2012), which interpreted indemnity provisions 

that were very similar to the one at issue in this case, to reject this argument. 

The two indemnification and hold harmless provisions at issue in City of 

Tacoma both provided in relevant part that Tacoma would indemnify, 

defend and hold harmless "from any and all claims." !d. at 593-94. The 

municipalities argued that Tacoma was required to indemnify them with 

respect to the lawsuit Tacoma filed against them, and therefore, the 

indemnity agreement precluded Tacoma's lawsuit. In other words, the 

broad indemnity provision that applied to "any and all claims," precluded 

Tacoma from filing any action against the Municipalities. !d. at 593. This 

Court expressly rejected this argument, holding: 
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While this language [in the indemnity provision] is 
undeniably broad, it does not prevent Tacoma, a party to the 
contract, from suing the Municipalities, another party to the 
contract. Concluding otherwise would produce the absurd 
result of precluding a party to a contract from disputing its 
obligations under that contract." 

!d. (emphasis added). Federal Way likewise argued that its' indemnity 

agreement applied to "any and all claims," and therefore, Tacoma had to 

defend Federal Way in the lawsuit. This Court again disagreed, holding that 

such interpretation would produce the absurd result of forcing Tacoma to 

bear all costs oflitigation when there was any dispute about the contract. !d. 

Like the municipalities in the City of Tacoma, the Guests argue the 

indemnity provision requires the Langes to bear all litigation costs related 

to this lawsuit. This interpretation produces an absurd result-it precludes 

the Langes from asserting their lawful rights under the Patio or Deck 

Easement and requires them to actually fund the Guests' lawsuit against 

them. The Court of Appeals properly followed City of Tacoma in rejecting 

the Guests' interpretation. Guest v. Lange, 2016 WL 3264419, at *7.49 

The Guests also argue review should be accepted because the Court 

of Appeals "failed to reconcile" City of Tacoma with Newport Yacht Basin 

49 Nor does the indemnity provision in this case contain "two separate hold harmless, 
release and indemnification clauses" as the Guests argue. Instead, in one single sentence, 
the provision clearly provides that the Guests are not liable for injuries to the Langes or 
third parties arising from the use of the easement and that the Langes will hold the Guests 
harmless, and defend and indemnify them from any such claims that a third party may 
assert against the Guests arising from the use of the easement. 
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Ass 'n of Condominium Owners v. Supreme Northwest, Inc., 168 Wn. App. 

86, 285 P.3d 70 (2012), but they do not argue that the two decisions are at 

odds with one another, nor do they argue that the Court of Appeals' decision 

in this case is at odds with either of those two decisions, as required to merit 

Supreme Court review. RAP 13.4(b)(l)&(2). On this basis alone, the 

Petition fails. In addition, there is nothing to "reconcile." While the Guests 

argue the Newport Yacht Basin decision stands for the proposition that a 

court must enforce a duty to indemnify "regardless of whether the 

indemnified party prevails," the question of who prevailed is not relevant to 

interpreting the indemnity agreement in this case. Moreover, the indemnity 

provision in Newport Yacht Basin was interpreted to bind the indemnitor 

for third party claims asserted against the indemnitee, which is entirely 

consistent with the Court of Appeals' holding in this case. 168 Wn. App. at 

101-02. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's dismissal 

of the Guests' indemnity claim. Supreme Court review is not warranted. 

2. Review Should Be Denied Because The Guests Waived 
Objection To The Inadvertent Failure to Give The Good 
Faith And Fair Dealing Instruction. 

It is fundamental law that an "appellate court may refuse to review 

any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." RAP 2.5(a); 

Guest v. Lange, 2016 WL 3264419, at * 10. The Guests failed object to the 

trial court's inadvertent failure to give the instruction on good faith and fair 
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dealing despite numerous chances to do so. They failed to object after

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